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5744- Index 650188/07
5745-
5746N James L. Melcher,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

                -against-

Greenberg Traurig LLP, et al.,
Defendants-Respondents.
_________________________ 

Jeffrey A. Jannuzzo, New York, for appellant.

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, New York (Thomas C. Rice of
counsel), for respondents.

_________________________ 

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (O. Peter Sherwood,

J.), entered on or about August 16, 2017, which, to the extent

appealed from as limited by the briefs, granted defendants’

motions in limine to preclude the testimony of Jonathan Lupkin

and James Lynch as expert witnesses on plaintiff’s behalf,

unanimously modified, on the facts and in the exercise of

discretion, to permit plaintiff to call Lupkin to testify at

trial concerning plaintiff’s alleged damages, subject to the

limitations set forth in this decision, and otherwise affirmed,

without costs.  Appeal from order, same court and Justice,



entered on or about August 31, 2017, which denied plaintiff’s

motion for renewal and granted plaintiff’s motion for reargument

and, upon reargument, adhered to the prior determination,

unanimously dismissed, without costs, as academic.

The factual background of this appeal is more fully set

forth in our decision on a prior appeal herein (135 AD3d 547,

547-550 [1st Dept 2016]) (Greenberg Traurig) and in our decision

on the final appeal in a prior related action (Melcher v Apollo

Med. Fund Mgt, L.L.C, 105 AD3d 15, 18-23 [1st Dept 2013])

(Apollo).  In brief, plaintiff, James L. Melcher, and nonparty

Brandon Fradd were formerly members and managers of nonparty

Apollo Medical Fund Management L.L.C. (AMFM).  In December 2003,

Melcher commenced the Apollo action against AMFM and Fradd, in

which he asserted, among other causes of action, the claim that

he had not been paid $6.5 million of AMFM’s profits to which he

was entitled under the entity’s operating agreement.  Defendants

in the present action, attorney Leslie D. Corwin, Esq. and his

former law firm, represented AMFM and Fradd in Apollo.1

One of the principal defenses asserted by AMFM and Fradd to

Melcher’s claim for unpaid profits in the Apollo action was the

contention that the parties had agreed in May 1998 to amend the

1We hereinafter refer to Corwin and his former law firm
collectively as “Corwin.”
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operating agreement to reduce Melcher’s share of the profits. 

That amendment, Fradd alleged, had been memorialized in a written

amendment, purportedly dated May 21, 1998 (the 1998 writing). 

The original 1998 writing was partially destroyed (through

accidental burning, according to Fradd) before Melcher had been

given an opportunity to examine it.  However, a copy of the

document survived.  Melcher took the position that the 1998

writing was a fabricated and backdated document that Fradd had

created in 2003, when the dispute with Melcher arose, and that

Fradd had deliberately burned the document when Melcher demanded

its production for forensic examination.

Fradd and AMFM, through Corwin, their counsel, continued to

assert that the alleged amendment of the operating agreement was

evidenced by the 1998 writing from February 17, 2004, the date of

their initial motion to dismiss the Apollo complaint, until May

11, 2009, the first day of trial.  On the latter date, just

before opening arguments, Corwin announced that Fradd and AMFM

would not rely at trial on the 1998 writing, although they would

continue to argue that the operating agreement had been modified

orally.  The trial resulted in a jury verdict finding, inter

alia, that, although the operating agreement had not been orally

modified as alleged by Fradd, Melcher was equitably estopped to

assert that AMFM had breached the agreement by underpaying him
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(see Apollo, 105 AD3d at 22).

Upon appeal, this Court set aside the equitable estoppel

verdict, directed entry of judgment as to liability in favor of

Melcher on his contract claim against AMFM, and remanded the

matter for an assessment of Melcher’s contract damages and “for a

hearing on [Melcher’s] allegations of spoliation and fraud”

concerning the 1998 writing (Apollo, 105 AD3d at 29).  On remand,

a judgment in the principal amount of $6.5 million was entered in

favor of Melcher on his contract claim against AMFM, which by

that time was insolvent.  Thereafter, in January 2014, Melcher

settled his spoliation and fraud claims against Fradd, and agreed

to discharge the judgment against AMFM, in exchange for a payment

of $5 million from Fradd.  In the settlement, Melcher reserved

any rights he might have against Corwin, who by then was no

longer representing Fradd and AMFM.

In the present action, Melcher seeks to recover treble

damages against Corwin on the theory that Corwin, by propounding

the allegedly fabricated 1998 writing on behalf of Fradd and AMFM

in the Apollo action, engaged in “deceit or collusion, or

consent[ed] to . . . deceit or collusion, with intent or deceive

the court or any party” (Judiciary Law § 487[1]).  Before us is

Melcher’s appeal from, inter alia, Supreme Court’s order granting

Corwin’s motion in limine to the extent of excluding the
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testimony of two of Melcher’s expert witnesses, Jonathan Lupkin

and James Lynch.  We note that, contrary to Corwin’s contention,

the order determining the motion in limine is appealable because

it involves the merits of the controversy and affects a

substantial right (see Credit Suisse First Boston v Utrecht-

America Fin. Co., 84 AD3d 579, 580 [1st Dept 2011]).

Initially, we find that the court’s preclusion of Lynch’s

testimony should be affirmed.  Melcher proposes to call Lynch to

testify to the calculation of the difference in value between the

judgment he obtained against the insolvent AMFM and the lesser

amount he received in his subsequent settlement with Fradd.  It

is, however, entirely a matter of speculation whether the Apollo

action would have been resolved while AMFM was still solvent had

the 1998 writing not been propounded.  Accordingly, that theory

of damages, in support of which Melcher proposes to call Lynch to

testify, does not afford Melcher a proper basis for recovery (see

Feldman v Jasne, 294 AD2d 307 [1st Dept 2002]).  Since Lynch’s

testimony is not offered for any other purpose, it was properly

precluded.

Melcher’s other expert witness, Lupkin, prepared a report

calculating the attorneys’ fees and other costs Melcher incurred

in litigating the Apollo action (excluding certain costs

concededly not related to the 1998 writing) beginning from 19
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different points in time during the litigation.2  According to

Lupkin, the factfinder in this case, based on whichever of these

19 points in time it determines to have been the point at which

Corwin learned that the 1998 writing was fabricated, should award

Melcher the corresponding damages figure as the amount of the

excess legal costs he incurred by reason of Corwin’s alleged

deceit.  Although, for the reasons discussed below, the damages

calculation in Lupkin’s report cannot be endorsed (even assuming

that Melcher proves that Corwin violated Judiciary Law § 487), we

conclude, substituting our discretion for that of Supreme Court,

that Melcher should not be precluded from calling Lupkin to

testify at trial.3

2Lupkin’s report does not specify at what point in time he
deemed Melcher’s costs in litigating the Apollo action to cease
to count as damages for any violation of Judiciary Law § 487.  
Melcher’s appellate briefs — which say almost nothing about
Lupkin’s proposed testimony — do not clarify this point.  We note
that, on appeal, Melcher no longer seeks to use at trial a second
methodology for calculating damages set forth in Lupkin’s report.

3To be clear, Corwin vigorously denies that he knew that the
1998 writing was fabricated at any relevant time.  Corwin further
contends that he reasonably believed the representations of his
client (Fradd) that the document was genuine, and that its
burning had been accidental, through the point at which the
decision was made not to offer it at trial as evidence of the
alleged amendment of the operating agreement.  To prevail on his
claim under § 487, of course, Melcher must prove that Corwin had
“actual knowledge” that the 1998 writing was fabricated at some
point before the decision was made not to use it at trial (see
Facebook, Inc. v DLA Piper LLP [US], 134 AD3d 610, 615 [1st Dept
2015], lv denied 28 NY3d 983 [2016]).
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Contrary to Melcher’s arguments, Supreme Court correctly

held that Judiciary Law § 487 entitles Melcher to a recovery

based only on the excess legal costs he incurred in the Apollo

action that were proximately caused by Corwin’s alleged deceit

(see Amalfitano v Rosenberg, 12 NY3d 8, 15 [2009]; Greenberg

Traurig, 135 AD3d at 552, 554).  Thus, the costs of litigating

issues that would have been in dispute in the case even if the

1998 writing had never been propounded are not recoverable under

Judiciary Law § 487.  In this regard, there were several issues

in the Apollo action on which the authenticity of the 1998

writing had no direct bearing at all, including: (1) whether

Fradd had breached a fiduciary duty to Melcher by diverting

potential investors from AMFM to another fund in which Melcher

had no interest; (2) whether Fradd had improperly removed Melcher

as a manager and a member of AMFM; and (3) whether the operating

agreement required AMFM’s dissolution upon Fradd’s removal of

Melcher.

Further, the question of the authenticity of the 1998

writing — although it was highly relevant to determining whether

the AMFM operating agreement had been modified to reduce

Melcher’s share of the profits and, as such, was “[o]ne of the

central issues in th[at] litigation” (Apollo, 105 AD3d at 20) —

was not, by itself, dispositive of the question of whether the
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operating agreement had, in fact, been modified.  This is plain

from the fact that the latter question went to trial after the

1998 writing ceased to be an issue in the case.  Thus, contrary

to the apparent theory of Lupkin’s report, Melcher cannot recover

the costs he incurred in litigating the Apollo action after

Corwin, on behalf of Melcher’s adversaries, disclaimed any

further reliance on the 1998 writing just before the opening of

trial on May 11, 2009.  Although the 1998 writing thereupon

disappeared from the case, the trial went forward on, among other

issues, whether the parties orally modified the operating

agreement and, if not, whether Melcher was nonetheless barred by

waiver or estoppel from recovering for breach of contract.  As a

matter of law, the costs of trying these issues, and of

subsequent posttrial practice and appeals, cannot be causally

attributed to the use of the 1998 writing in the proceedings

prior to May 11, 2009.

In view of the foregoing, the potential damages figures

proposed in Lupkin’s report — each of which assumes that Melcher

may recover all of his costs in litigating the Apollo action

(excluding only the costs he would have incurred in calculating

damages even if a default judgment had been entered in his favor)

from the time Corwin learned that the 1998 writing was

fabricated, through the end of the case — do not constitute
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proper bases for recovery.  Nonetheless, we are cognizant of the

“evident intent [of Judiciary Law § 487] to enforce an attorney’s

special obligation to protect the integrity of the courts and

foster their truth-seeking function” (Amalfitano, 12 NY3d at 14;

see also Specialized Indus. Servs. Corp. v Carter, 99 AD3d 692,

693 [2d Dept 2012] [noting that the statutory remedy is “designed

. . . to deter” attorneys from “betraying” this obligation]). 

Accordingly, we exercise our discretion to modify Supreme Court’s

order to permit Melcher to call Lupkin to testify as an expert

witness on damages at trial, with the proviso that his testimony

be limited to the assessment of the excess legal costs that

Melcher was required to incur, during the period beginning

February 17, 2004, and ending May 11, 2009, as the proximate

result of any violation of Judiciary Law § 487 by Corwin that the

factfinder may find to have occurred, as discussed above.4

4At certain points, Melcher’s brief suggests the theory
that, but for Corwin’s advocacy of the authenticity of the 1998
writing, and of the accidental nature of its burning, in
opposition to Melcher’s motions to strike his clients’ pleadings
in 2007, those motions would have been granted and, therefore,
all of Melcher’s subsequent costs in litigating the Apollo action
may be attributed to Corwin’s deceit (assuming such deceit is
proved).  We reject this theory as unduly speculative.
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The foregoing renders academic Melcher’s appeal from the

denial of his motion to renew or reargue.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ. 

7151 The People of the State of New York, Ind. 2696/14
Respondent,

-against-

Andre Johnson,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Robert S. Dean, Center for Appellate Litigation, New York (Taylor
L. Napolitano of counsel), for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Megan DeMarco
of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

An appeal having been taken to this Court by the above-named
appellant from a judgment of the Supreme Court, New York County
(Laura A. Ward, J.), rendered December 7, 2015,

Said appeal having been argued by counsel for the respective
parties, due deliberation having been had thereon, and finding
the sentence not excessive,

It is unanimously ordered that the judgment so appealed from
be and the same is hereby affirmed.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK

Counsel for appellant is referred to
§ 606.5, Rules of the Appellate
Division, First Department.
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7152 Gjovan Rroku, Index 300351/15
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-against-

West Rac Contracting Corp., et al.,
Defendants-Appellants.
_________________________

Kennedys CMK LLP, New York (Michael Schneider of counsel), for
appellants.

Wingate, Russotti, Shapiro & Halperin, LLP, New York (David M.
Schwarz of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Order, Supreme Court, Bronx County (Lucindo Suarez, J.),

entered on or about August 17, 2017, which granted plaintiff’s

motion for partial summary judgment on his Labor Law § 240(1)

claim, and denied defendants’ cross motion for summary judgment

dismissing that claim, unanimously affirmed, without costs.

Plaintiff’s testimony that, as he was climbing down a six-

foot scaffold, the scaffold wobbled, causing him to fall to the

floor, establishes prima facie defendants’ liability under Labor

Law § 240(1) (see Gonzalez v 1225 Ogden Deli Grocery Corp., 158

AD3d 582, 583 [1st Dept 2018]; Alvarez v 1407 Broadway Real

Estate LLC, 80 AD3d 524 [1st Dept 2011]).  Plaintiff satisfied

his burden of demonstrating that defendants failed to provide

adequate safety devices to prevent him from falling when the

scaffold moved (see McCarthy v Turner Constr., Inc., 52 AD3d 333,
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334 [1st Dept 2008]).  The fact that plaintiff was the only

witness to his accident does not preclude summary judgment in his

favor, since nothing in the record controverts his account of the

accident or calls his credibility into question (Ortiz v Burke

Ave. Realty, Inc., 126 AD3d 577, 578 [1st Dept 2015]).

Defendants failed to raise an issue of fact in opposition,

relying solely on hearsay statements in the accident report and

the speculative opinion of their expert (see 76th & Broadway

Owner LLC v Consolidated Edison Co. of N.Y. Inc., 160 AD3d 447

[1st Dept 2018]; Gonzalez, 158 AD3d at 538-584).  For the same

reason, defendants failed to establish prima facie their freedom

from liability.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7153 In re Heaven C.E., and Another,

Children Under Eighteen Years 
of Age, etc.,

Tiara C.,
Respondent-Appellant,

Administration for Children’s Services,
Petitioner-Respondent,

Maurice D., 
Respondent.
_________________________

Larry S. Bachner, New York, for appellant.

Zachary W. Carter, Corporation Counsel, New York (Rebecca L.
Visgaitis of counsel), for respondent.

Dawne A. Mitchell, The Legal Aid Society, New York (Claire V.
Merkine of counsel), attorney for the children.

_________________________

Order of fact-finding and disposition (one paper), Family

Court, Bronx County (Robert D. Hettleman, J.), entered on or

about December 6, 2017, insofar as it determined, after a

hearing, that respondent-appellant mother Tiara C. abused and

severely abused Heaven C. and derivatively abused and severely

abused Joseph C., unanimously affirmed, without costs.

Petitioner satisfied its burden of making an initial prima

facie showing of severe abuse (Matter of Philip M., 82 NY2d 238,

243 [1993]).  Expert testimony established by clear and

convincing evidence that then three-year-old Heaven C. suffered
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from non-accidental injuries, including life-threatening brain

trauma resulting in permanent brain damage, a fractured pelvis,

and bruises, burns, and scars on her body.  The court properly

exercised its discretion in crediting the testimony of the

child’s treating physician, Doctor O’Hara, a board-certified

pediatrician with a certification in child abuse.  Doctor O’Hara

opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Heaven’s

brain trauma was caused by partial strangulation leading to a

loss of blood flow, rather than another theory unrelated to

abuse, based on the child’s presentation of symptoms and

constellation of other injuries, which were clearly inflicted.   

Further, even assuming that the mother’s live-in boyfriend

alone inflicted these injuries, the mother remains culpable for

permitting the abuse to occur (see Family Court Act § 1012[e][i];

Matter of Vivienne Bobbi-Hadiya S. [Makena Asanta Malika McK.],

126 AD3d 545, 546 [1st Dept 2015], lv denied 25 NY3d 909 [2015]). 

Given the nature and severity of the child’s injuries, the mother

was or should have been aware of the abuse.  Moreover, the

mother’s delay in summoning emergency assistance for almost two

hours after Heaven was found comatose further supports the

finding of severe abuse (see Matter of Amirah L. [Candice J.]),

118 AD3d 792, 794 [2d Dept 2014]).

Having determined that Heaven was severely abused, the
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Family Court’s finding of derivative severe abuse as to Joseph C.

was proper, as the mother’s actions demonstrated that she had a

“fundamental defect in her understanding of her parental

obligations” (Matter of Kaylene H. [Brenda P.H.], 133 AD3d 477,

478 [1st Dept 2015]; see Matter of Marino S., 100 NY2d 361, 374

[2003], cert denied sub nom. Marino S. v Angel Guardian Children

& Family Servs., 540 US 1059 [2003]; Family Court Act §

1012[e][ii]).  Contrary to the mother’s contention, the Family

Court did not err in drawing the most negative inference against

her for her failure to testify where petitioner established its

prima facie case of severe abuse (see Matter of Ashley M.V.

[Victor V.], 106 AD3d 659, 660 [1st Dept 2013]).  

We have considered the mother’s remaining contentions,

including her claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, and

find them unavailing.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7155 In re Matthew Sullivan, Index 101371/15
Petitioner-Respondent,

-against-

226-8 East 2nd Owners Corp., et al.,
Respondents-Appellants.
_________________________

Law Office of Allison M. Furman, P.C., New York (Allison M.
Furman of counsel), for appellants.

Robinson Brog Leinwand Greene Genovese & Gluck P.C., New York
(Philip T. Simpson of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Charles E. Ramos,

J.), entered October 4, 2016, granting an article 78 petition

directing respondents to sign off on petitioner’s application to

the New York City Department of Buildings (DOB) for the

construction of a roof deck, and denying respondents’ cross

motion to dismiss the petition, unanimously modified, on the law,

to vacate the judgment as against the individual defendants,

dismiss the proceeding as against them, and otherwise affirmed,

without costs.  The Clerk is directed to enter judgement

accordingly.

The court correctly rejected respondents’ argument that the

article 78 petition was not ripe for review.  While respondent

cooperative board did not make a formal, final determination on

petitioner’s request that it execute the forms necessary for
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petitioner to submit his application to the New York City

Department of Buildings (DOB) for his proposed roof deck, the

record supports the conclusion that petitioner had the right to

seek article 78 judicial relief from respondents’ inaction under

the circumstances here.  As the court found, petitioner submitted

his request to the board on numerous occasions, answered the

board’s questions regarding the construction of the roof deck and

his compliance with the conditions DOB had set for its approval,

and sent a letter to the board on April 25, 2015, stating that

its failure to execute the forms by May 1, 2015 would be deemed a

refusal, to which the board declined to respond.  By July 28,

2015, when petitioner filed his article 78 petition, it was

apparent that the board’s failure to make a determination on the

request or even respond to his letter was the equivalent of a

refusal and that further efforts to obtain a response from the

board would have been futile. 

As respondents argue only that there was no basis for the 

court’s article 78 review, and not that the court’s substantive

conclusions were erroneous, there is no basis for reversing the

judgment ordering respondents to authorize petitioner to submit

the DOB application.  Given that there are no allegations in the

petition seeking individual relief against the separately named 
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board members, and that the likewise limited relief ordered by

the court does not direct relief against any of them, the

petition is denied as against those respondents.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7156 Clean Act Inc., Index 113457/11
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-against-

4126 Realty Corp.,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Apaamoore Agambila, New York, for appellant.

Law Office of Kramer & Shapiro, P.C., Kew Gardens (Michael A.
Shapiro of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Order and judgment (one paper), Supreme Court, New York

County (Gerald Lebovits, J.), entered December 9, 2016, after a

nonjury trial, inter alia, declaring that plaintiff’s leased

premises at 4128 Broadway, New York, New York, includes a

rectangular area of approximately 1,035 square feet and an

adjacent L-shaped portion of approximately 165 square feet, and

permanently enjoining and restraining defendant from taking

action to terminate plaintiff’s tenancy on the ground that the L-

shaped portion is not part of the leased premises, unanimously

affirmed, with costs.

Given the difference between the square footage of the

demised premises stated in the lease and the square footage shown

on a diagram attached to the lease, the trial court properly

considered parol evidence in determining whether the demised
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premises includes an L-shaped area depicted in plaintiff’s

approved building plans (see Blue Jeans U.S.A. v Basciano, 286

AD2d 274, 276 [1st Dept 2001]; see e.g. Feld, Kaminetzky, &

Cohen, P.C. v Lincoln Bldg. Assoc., 2009 NY Slip Op 31729[U], *5

[Sup Ct, NY County 2009]).

Plaintiff’s trial exhibits and witness testimony support a

conclusion that the demised premises includes the subject L-

shaped area, and the trial court was entitled to credit that

testimony (see Ocap Acquisition Corp. v Paco Pharm. Servs., 243

AD2d 327 [1st Dept 1997]).

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7157  The People of the State of New York, Ind. 4883/15
Respondent,

-against-

Andre Brown,
  Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Robert S. Dean, Center for Appellate Litigation, New York
(Siobhan C. Atkins of counsel), for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Hope Korenstein
of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Daniel P.

FitzGerald, J.), rendered April 21, 2017, convicting defendant,

after a jury trial, of criminal possession of weapon in the third

degree and attempted grand larceny in the fourth degree, and

sentencing him, as a second felony offender, to an aggregate term

of 3½ to 7 years, unanimously affirmed.

The verdict was based on legally sufficient evidence and was

not against the weight of the evidence.  There was ample evidence

to support the inference that defendant acted as a lookout while 

his companion used a razor to cut the pants pocket of a sleeping

subway passenger in an attempt to remove his wallet (see e.g.

People v Perez, 16 AD3d 191, 191 [1st Dept 2005] lv denied 4 NY3d

855 [2005]).  The evidence also established that defendant and

his accomplice possessed the razor “with intent to use the same
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unlawfully against another” (Penal Law § 265.01[2]).  Cutting a

person’s pocket to effectuate a larceny is obviously unlawful.

The statute does not require that any particular type of unlawful

use against another be intended, and we reject defendant’s

argument that we should read into the statute an additional

requirement of intent to inflict or threaten physical harm.

The court providently exercised its discretion in admitting

carefully limited evidence of defendant’s prior convictions

relating to thefts from sleeping passengers on subway cars, and

of prior police surveillance of defendant while he was

accompanied by the same person alleged to be his accomplice in

this case.  The evidence was relevant to establish defendant’s

intent and accessorial liability, and to rebut his claim that he

was an innocent bystander when the other man attempted to steal

the victim’s wallet (see People v Carter, 77 NY2d 95, 107 [1990],

cert denied 499 US 967 [1991]; People v Ingram, 71 NY2d 474, 479

[1988]; People v Godbold, 55 AD3d 339 [1st Dept 2008], lv denied 

11 NY3d 897 [2008]).  “While ‘acting in concert’ is not one of

the five Molineux exceptions, it has been said that those 
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categories are merely illustrative, not exclusive” (People v

Jackson, 39 NY2d 64, 68 [1976]).  Any prejudice was minimized by

the court’s repeated limiting instructions, which the jury is

presumed to have followed.

We perceive no basis for reducing the sentence.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ. 

7158 The People of the State of New York,   Ind. 2718/15
Respondent,

-against-

Keith Chapman,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Marianne Karas, Thornwood, for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Lee M. Pollack
of counsel), for respondent. 

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Edwina G.

Mendelson, J.), rendered June 24, 2016, as amended September 1,

2016, convicting defendant, upon his plea of guilty, of criminal

possession of a weapon in the second degree, and sentencing him

to a term of four years, unanimously affirmed. 

The court properly denied defendant’s suppression motion. 

The odor of marijuana emanating from a lawfully stopped car gave

the police probable cause to search the car and its occupants

(see e.g. People v Smith, 66 AD3d 514 [1st Dept 2009], lv denied

13 NY3d 942 [2010]).  In any event, the police were justified in

25



conducting a protective frisk based on defendant’s pattern of

behavior, including furtive movements, failure to comply with

instructions to keep his hands on his lap, and indications of an

attempt to hide something (see e.g. People v Alejandro, 142 AD3d

876 [1st Dept 2016], lv denied 28 NY3d 1070 [2016]).

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7159 Catherine Heywood, Index 111785/10
Plaintiff-Appellant,

-against-

New York City Transit Authority, 
et al.,

Defendants-Respondents,

Bibol Bogodzhon,
Defendant.
_________________________

Sweetbaum & Sweetbaum, Lake Success (Marshall D. Sweetbaum of
counsel), for appellant.

Lawrence Heisler, Brooklyn (Harriet Wong of counsel), for
respondents.

_________________________ 

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (Lynn R. Kotler, J.),

entered April 18, 2017, which, inter alia, granted defendant

Transit Authority’s motion for summary judgment dismissing the

complaint based on plaintiff’s inability to establish a serious

injury within the meaning of Insurance Law § 5102(d), unanimously

affirmed, without costs. 

Plaintiff, a cross-country runner, alleged that, as the

result of a collision between a Transit Authority bus and a

pedicab, the pedicab jumped a curb and fell over on her ankle,

causing a laceration that left a scar, as well as a history of

left knee dislocation and pain. 

The Transit Authority established prima facie entitlement to
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summary judgment by submitting the affirmed report of an

orthopedist who, after examination of plaintiff’s ankles and

knees, found normal and near-normal range of motion in all planes

(see Paduani v Rodriguez, 101 AD3d 470, 470 [1st Dept 2012]). 

The orthopedist also examined the ankle scar, describing it as a

healed 6 centimeter laceration with keloid scarring and no

swelling (see Loiseau v Maxwell, 256 AD2d 450 [2d Dept 1998]).

Plaintiff’s own deposition testimony showed that she had resumed

running within months after the accident and completed a marathon

years later, indicating an absence of any significant or

permanent injury to her ankles or knees (see Gaddy v Eyler, 79

NY2d 955, 957 [1992]). 

  In opposition, plaintiff failed to raise an issue of fact. 

Plaintiff’s medical records from the period after the accident

demonstrated that she had full knee range of motion, the ankle

scar was just 3 centimeters long, and the laceration was “healed,

clean, dry and intact.”  The plaintiff offered photographs of the

scar, without any evidence concerning when they were taken (see

Aguilar v Hicks, 9 AD3d 318 [1st Dept 2004]).  Even accepting the

photographs as a fair and accurate rendition of the scar, a

reasonable person would not regard the condition depicted as

“unattractive, objectionable, or as the subject of pity or scorn”

(see Sidibe v Cordero, 79 AD3d 536 [1st Dept 2010]).  Plaintiff’s
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expert rendered no opinion regarding whether any knee or ankle

injuries resulted from the accident, and thus failed to raise an

issue of fact as to whether she sustained a serious knee or ankle

injury.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7161- Ind. 1638/13
7162-
7163 The People of the State of New York,

Respondent,

-against-

Santo Rosa,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Robert S. Dean, Center for Appellate Litigation, New York
(Arielle Reid of counsel), for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Brent Ferguson
of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Robert M. Stolz,

J. at speedy trial motion; Mark Dwyer, J. at jury trial and

sentencing), rendered July 22, 2015, as amended August 4, 2017,

convicting defendant of two counts each of aggravated family

offense and criminal contempt in the second degree, and

sentencing him to an aggregate term of one year, unanimously

modified, as a matter of discretion in the interest of justice,

to the extent of vacating the order of protection and remanding

for a new determination of its duration, and otherwise affirmed.

The verdict was not against the weight of the evidence (see

People v Danielson, 9 NY3d 342 [2007]).  There is no basis for

disturbing the jury’s fact-finding determinations.  The fact that

the jury acquitted defendant of the charges involving his wife’s
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order of protection, while convicting him of the charges

involving his children’s order, does not warrant a different

conclusion.  While, in performing our weight of the evidence

review, we may consider an alleged factual inconsistency in a

verdict (see People v Rayam, 94 NY2d 557, 563 n [2000]), we find

it “imprudent to speculate concerning the factual determinations

that underlay the verdict” (People v Horne, 97 NY2d 404, 413

[2002]; see also People v Hemmings, 2 NY3d 1, 5 n [2004]).  In

any event, the jury could have reasonably concluded that

defendant intentionally violated the order of protection entered

in favor of his children, while also crediting testimony

suggesting that he thought his wife’s order of protection had

expired.

Because defendant made a generalized CPL 30.30 motion and

did not, by way of timely reply or otherwise, challenge the

People’s specifically claimed exclusions, his speedy trial claims

have not been preserved (see People v Allard, 28 NY3d 41, 46-47

[2016]; People v Beasley, 16 NY3d 289, 292 [2011]), and we

decline to review them in the interest of justice.  As an

alternative holding, we find that none of the three periods of

delay at issue on appeal was chargeable to the People (see People

v Mears, 55 AD3d 439, 440 [1st Dept 2008], lv denied 11 NY3d 927

[2009]). A hearing on the motion was not required because there
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were no issues of fact for the court to resolve, inasmuch as

defendant made mere conclusory assertions in support of his

motion (see CPL 210.45[5]; People v Simmons, 135 AD3d 1193, 1194-

1195 [3d Dept 2016], lv denied 27 NY2d 1006 [2016]).

The counts charging aggravated family offense were not

jurisdictionally defective.  The relevant counts in the

indictment included all the elements of that crime, including

that defendant committed a misdemeanor as specified by Penal Law

§ 240.75(2), because it “unmistakably identified the ‘specified

offense’ [second-degree criminal contempt] defendant was alleged

to have committed by stating its definition, albeit without

identifying it by section number” (People v Parilla, 145 AD3d

629, 629-630 [1st Dept 2016], lv denied 29 NY3d 951 [2017]; see

also People v Brooks, 159 AD3d 401, 401 [1st Dept 2018], lv

denied 31 NY3d 1079 [2018]). 
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As the People concede, the expiration date of the order of

protection is beyond the period permitted by statute, and a new

determination is necessary.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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7164 In re Cornell S.J.,
Petitioner-Respondent,

-against-

Altemease R.J.,
Respondent-Appellant.
_________________________

Richard L. Herzfeld, P.C., New York (Richard L. Herzfeld of
counsel), for appellant.

Jeanette Zelhof, Mobilization for Justice, New York (Arlene Joan
Rodriguez of counsel), for respondent.

John R. Eyerman, New York, attorney for the children.
_________________________

Order, Family Court, Bronx County (Linda Tally, J.), entered

on or about June 9, 2017, which granted petitioner-respondent’s

petitions seeking guardianship of the subject children and

dismissed respondent-appellant’s custody petitions, unanimously

modified, on the law and on the facts, to the extent of remanding

the matter to Family Court for the establishment of an

appropriate visitation schedule consistent herewith and, 

otherwise affirmed, without costs.

Someone other than a parent has standing to seek custody of

a child only if there are extraordinary circumstances (see Matter

of Baby Doe, 4 Misc 3d 693, 694 [Fam Ct, Kings County 2004],

citing Matter of Bennett v Jeffreys, 40 NY2d 543 [1976]).  Here,

the children’s adoptive mother (their great-grandmother),

34



abandoned the children for five days without any adult care after

she had an argument with her son, the children’s grandfather. 

After a brief return, she left again and failed to contact them,

provide for them or visit them for almost 11 months.  It was not

until the children’s grandfather brought this guardianship

proceeding that the great-grandmother came forward to file these

petitions for custody and a writ of habeas corpus.  Given the

totality of the situation, the record shows that extraordinary

circumstances exist warranting a guardianship award of the

children to petitioner, their grandfather, because it is in the

children’s best interests (see Matter of Denys O.H. v Vilma A.G.,

108 AD3d 711 [2d Dept 2013]; SCPA 1707[1]; see also Friederwitzer

v Friederwitzer, 55 NY2d 89 [1982]; Matter of China S. [Tonia J.-

Levon S.], 77 AD3d 568 [1st Dept 2010]).  

The evidence showed that the grandfather had consistently

been the children’s primary caregiver, taking care of all of

their needs, while respondent, their great-grandmother, had

little or no contact with them during her absence.  During that

period, the children were, by all accounts, happy and well-cared

for, and living with their older sibling, who had been entrusted

to petitioner’s guardianship with the great-grandmother’s

consent.  Through their attorney, the children expressed their

wish to remain with their grandfather and that they are
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uncomfortable with their great-grandmother, who reportedly hit

the children (see e.g. Matter of Reven W. v Jenny Virginia D.,

107 AD3d 445 [1st Dept 2013]). 

Although Family Court correctly granted visitation to the

great-grandmother, who had cared for the children for many years

after their adoption, visitation should not have been conditioned

on the children’s (ages 9 and 11) consent and the parties’

agreement.  Visitation is a joint right of the noncustodial

parent, here the adoptive mother, and of the children (Weiss v

Weiss, 52 NY2d 170, 175 [1981]).  Although the children have a

fractured relationship with their adoptive mother, a reasonable

visitation schedule should have been set with her.  At a minimum,

supervised visitation would have alleviated the children’s

concerns.  Not only is it untenable for these parties to set up

their own visitation schedule, there is an insufficient showing

that visitation would be detrimental to the children.  “A court

may not delegate its authority to determine visitation to either

a parent or a child” (William-Torand v Torand, 73 AD3d 605, 606

[1st Dept 2010]; see also Matter of Leah S., 61 AD3d 1402 [1st

Dept 2009]).  Consequently, we remand this matter so that Family

Court can, at a minimum, establish an appropriate supervised

access schedule for the great-grandmother with the children and

for the allocation of any other suitable resources to restore
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their relationship.

We have considered the great-grandmother’s other objections

to the appointment of her son as the children’s guardian and find

them unavailing.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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7165   The People of the State of New York, Ind. 2298/12
Respondent,

-against-

Matthew Smalls,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Seymour W. James, Jr., The Legal Aid Society, New York (Adrienne
M. Gantt of counsel), for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Aaron Zucker of
counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (Gregory Carro, J.),

entered on or about September 14, 2016, which adjudicated

defendant a level three predicate sex offender pursuant to the

Sex Offender Registration Act (Correction Law art 6-C),

unanimously affirmed, without costs.  

Defendant’s challenges to point assessments that were based

on a prior youthful offender adjudication are unavailing in light

of People v Francis (30 NY3d 737 [2018]).  The court also

correctly assessed points for a history of drug abuse, based on

defendant’s admissions and criminal history (see e.g. People v

Fernandez, 126 AD3d 453 [1st Dept 2015], lv denied 25 NY3d 911

[2015]).
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We find no basis for a downward departure (see People v

Gillotti, 23 NY3d 841 [2014]).  The mitigating factors cited by

defendant are outweighed by the seriousness of the underlying

crime, and we do not find that there were any overassessments.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK

39



Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7166- Index 651620/16
7167 ID Beauty S.A.S.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

-against-

Coty Inc. Headquarters,
Defendant-Respondent.
_________________________

Wilk Auslander LLP, New York (Eric LaMons of counsel), for
appellant.

Davis & Gilbert LLP, New York (James R. Levine of counsel), for
respondent.

_________________________

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (O. Peter Sherwood,

J.), entered on or about December 29, 2016, which granted

defendant’s CPLR 3211(a)(1) motion to dismiss the First Amended

Complaint (FAC), unanimously affirmed, without costs.  Order,

same court and Justice, entered on or about October 24, 2017,

which denied plaintiff’s motion for leave to file a Second

Amended Complaint (SAC) unanimously affirmed, without costs.

In support of reinstating the FAC, with respect to the

breach of contract claim, plaintiff makes only the arguments it

made in its motion for leave to amend the complaint, having

abandoned the arguments it made in opposition to defendant’s

motion to dismiss.  Because these arguments were not presented to

the motion court on the motion to dismiss, we will not consider
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them on appeal (see Honique Accessories, Ltd. v S.J. Stile

Assoc., Ltd., 67 AD3d 481 [1st Dept 2009]; Tortorello v Carlin,

260 AD2d 201, 205 [1st Dept 1999]).

Plaintiff contends that its claims for “detrimental

reliance,” fraudulent inducement, and promissory estoppel should

be reinstated because the contractual limitation of liability

does not bar the damages it seeks on those claims.  However, the

fraud and fraudulent inducement claims, which essentially allege

an insincere promise to perform, are duplicative of the breach of

contract claim (see e.g. Cronos Group Ltd. v XComIP, LLC, 156

AD3d 54, 62-63 [1st Dept 2017]; Arnon Ltd [IOM] v Beierwaltes,

125 AD3d 453 [1st Dept 2015]).  The promissory estoppel claim is

barred by the alleged existence of a contract (see Susman v

Commerzbank Capital Mkts. Corp., 95 AD3d 589, 590 [1st Dept

2012], lv denied 19 NY3d 810 [2012]).

Plaintiff was properly denied leave to file the proposed SAC

because it is patently devoid of merit (see MBIA Ins. Corp. v

Greystone & Co., Inc., 74 AD3d 499, 500 [1st Dept 2010]).  The

proposed SAC does not contain any new facts.  Instead, it

contains a new legal argument that the contractual limitation of

liability contained in every invoice issued by defendant for

every purchase made by plaintiff does not govern the exclusivity

agreement the parties allegedly entered into.  The alleged
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exclusivity agreement consists of an email by defendant’s

representative, which stated that plaintiff “will be exclusive

starting with July.”  Plaintiff’s new legal argument is precluded

by the unambiguous contractual language contained in the

invoices, including a broad “Limitations of Liability” clause and

the statement that “[t]his document contains the entire

understanding and agreement of the parties concerning the

purchase and sale of the items listed on the front hereof.  Any

proposal, negotiation, representation, promise, (course of

dealing or trade usage) not contained or referenced herein shall

not bind Seller.”  Based on the unambiguous language in the

invoices, there is no legal basis for plaintiff’s conclusory

assertion that the alleged exclusivity agreement is a separate

agreement and not governed by the limitation of liability clause.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK

42



Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7168 Robyn Hill, Index 154379/14
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-against-

Manhattan North Management,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

McGaw, Alventosa & Zajac, Jericho (Andrew Zajac and Ross P.
Masler of counsel), for appellant.

Russo & Toner, LLP, New York (Maurice J. Recchia of counsel), for
respondent.

_________________________

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (Barbara Jaffe, J.),

entered October 18, 2017, which denied defendant’s motion for

summary judgment dismissing the complaint, unanimously affirmed,

without costs.

Defendant failed to establish its entitlement to judgment as

a matter of law in this action where plaintiff slipped and fell

on water in the vestibule of defendant’s building.  Defendant

failed to make a prima facie showing that it lacked constructive

notice because the superintendent failed to testify or aver that

his assistant adhered to a janitorial schedule on the day of the

accident or when the area was last inspected prior to plaintiff’s

fall (see Ross v Betty G. Reader Revocable Trust, 86 AD3d 419,

421 [1st Dept 2011]).  Since defendant failed to meet its initial

burden to establish that it lacked constructive notice of the
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alleged defect as a matter of law, the burden never shifted to

plaintiff to establish how long the condition existed (see

Sabalza v Salgado, 85 AD3d 436, 438 [1st Dept 2011]).

Defendant also failed to establish that it lacked

constructive notice on the basis that the water was not present

in the vestibule for a sufficient period to afford defendant an

opportunity to discover and remedy the condition (see Nepomuceno

v City of New York, 137 AD3d 646, 646-47 [1st Dept 2016]). 

Whether the water was present for that sufficient period presents

an outstanding factual issue, as the time it took plaintiff and

her friend to return to the premises from the store is unclear,

and defendant failed to clarify the issue at the deposition.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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7169 The People of the State of New York, Ind. 5024N/14
Respondent,

-against-

Benjamin Ramirez, 
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Robert S. Dean, Center for Appellate Litigation, New York (Jody
Ratner of counsel), for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Andrew E.
Seewald of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Daniel P.

Conviser, J.), rendered November 17, 2015, as amended January 30,

2018, convicting defendant, upon his plea of guilty, of criminal

possession of a controlled substance in the third degree and

criminal possession of a weapon in the second degree, and

sentencing him to concurrent terms of five years, unanimously

affirmed. 

Defendant made a valid waiver of his right to appeal.  The

court’s thorough colloquy with defendant satisfied the

requirements for a valid waiver (see People v Bryant, 28 NY3d

1094 [2016]).  The court did not misstate the scope of the right

being waived, or conflate it with the rights automatically

forfeited by pleading guilty, and the record does not establish

anything defective about the waiver.  This waiver forecloses
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defendant’s claims that the sentencing court misperceived its

discretion and that the sentence is excessive (see People v

Watson, 155 AD3d 553 [1st Dept 2017], lv denied 30 NY3d 1121

[2018]).  

Regardless of whether defendant made a valid waiver of his

right to appeal, he did not preserve his claim that the court

failed to exercise its sentencing discretion (see id.), and we

decline to review it in the interest of justice.  As an

alternative holding, we reject it on the merits.  The court

expressly stated that it was weighing the relevant sentencing

considerations, including, but not limited to, the People’s

position, and that it was exercising its independent discretion. 

We also perceive no basis for reducing the sentence.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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7170 The People of the State of New York, Ind. 2166/16
Respondent,

-against-

Jeffrey Bevel,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Marianne Karas, Thornwood, for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Meghan Callagee
O’Brien of counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Ruth Pickholz,

J.), rendered November 17, 2016, convicting defendant, after a

jury trial, of persistent sexual abuse, and sentencing him, as a

second felony offender, to a term of 4 years, unanimously

affirmed.

Defendant’s generalized objections failed to preserve his

challenges to police testimony about remarks made by defendant to

the victim in the officer’s presence, and we decline to review

them in the interest of justice.  As an alternative holding, we

find that the remarks were properly admitted.  Although the court

had suppressed other statements, made by defendant to the police,

for lack of Miranda warnings, that ruling did not encompass

defendant’s remarks to a civilian victim.  Moreover, there was no

basis for suppression of those remarks, which were spontaneous,
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addressed to a civilian, and not induced by any actions of the

police (see People v Harris, 57 NY2d 335, 342 [1982], cert denied

460 US 1047 [1983]; People v Rivers, 56 NY2d 476, 479 [1982]). 

We reject defendant’s argument that his suppressed statement to

the police at the time of his arrest and his remarks to the

victim should be considered a single event.  On the contrary,

rather than inducing defendant to address the victim, the police

actively sought to prevent defendant from doing so, because his

persistent shouting was upsetting her.

By failing to object, or by making generalized objections,

defendant failed to preserve any of his other evidentiary claims,

or his challenges to the prosecutor’s summation, and we decline

to review them in the interest of justice.  As an alternative

holding, we find no basis for reversal.

Defendant’s ineffective assistance of counsel claims are

unreviewable on direct appeal because they involve matters not

reflected in, or fully explained by, the record (see People v

Rivera, 71 NY2d 705, 709 [1988]; People v Love, 57 NY2d 998

[1982]).  Accordingly, since defendant has not made a CPL 440.10

motion, the merits of the ineffectiveness claims may not be

addressed on appeal.  In the alternative, to the extent the

existing record permits review, we find that defendant received

effective assistance under the state and federal standards (see
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People v Benevento, 91 NY2d 708, 713-714 [1998]; Strickland v

Washington, 466 US 668 [1984]).  Defendant has not shown that any

of counsel’s alleged deficiencies, including those relating to

the absence of objections, fell below an objective standard of

reasonableness, or that, viewed individually or collectively,

they deprived defendant of a fair trial or affected the outcome

of the case.    

We perceive no basis for reducing the sentence. 

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK

49



Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7171- Index 653225/12
7172 FranPearl Equities Corp.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

-against-

124 West 23rd Street, LLC,
Defendant-Respondent.
_________________________

Kucker & Bruh, LLP, New York (Catherine A. Helwig of counsel),
for appellant.

Cole Schotz P.C., New York (Nolan E. Shanahan of counsel), for
respondent.

_________________________

Orders, Supreme Court, New York County (O. Peter Sherwood,

J.), entered on or about August 31, 2017, which denied

plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment, and granted

defendant’s motion for summary judgment dismissing the complaint,

unanimously affirmed, with costs.

It is undisputed that, following the sale of a parcel of

land by plaintiff to defendant’s assignor, defendant failed to

construct a building on the property and obtain a temporary

certificate of occupancy (TCO) for it by September 15, 2011, as

the contract of sale required.  It is further undisputed that

defendant obtained a TCO on November 1, 2012, 13½ months after

the deadline.  In its case against defendant for breach of

contract, plaintiff failed to show that it was harmed by
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defendant’s delay (see Harris v Seward Park Hous. Corp., 79 AD3d

425, 426 [1st Dept 2010]).

Plaintiff contends that, due to applicable zoning

regulations, defendant’s delay prevented it from constructing a

building on its own adjacent property for 13½ months.  However,

plaintiff failed to show that it would otherwise have started

construction in September 2011; the evidence it submitted

consists primarily of preliminary zoning calculations. 

Ultimately, plaintiff did not construct a building at all, and

sold its property seven months after the TCO was obtained.

Plaintiff also failed to show that commencing construction

in November 2012 would have been more costly, or otherwise less

advantageous, than commencing in September 2011, or that

defendant’s delay affected the price it received for the sale of

its own property.

To the extent plaintiff tried to show lost profits during

the 13½ month delay, its expert submissions were “merely

speculative, possible or imaginary” rather than “reasonably

certain and directly traceable to the breach” (see Kenford Co. v

County of Erie, 67 NY2d 257, 261 [1986]).

We reject plaintiff’s contention that damages should be

presumed because the contract provides that if the TCO deadline

is missed, plaintiff “may” have a claim for up to $2 million. 
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Rather than guaranteeing plaintiff a monetary award for a missed

deadline, this provision contemplates the possibility of a claim,

and caps any resulting damages at $2 million.  Further, given

that the consequences of a timely obtained TCO are not known,

this is not a case where “it is reasonable to infer that there

probably are damages from the breach” (see Northway Mall Assoc. v

Bernlee Realty Corp., 90 AD2d 739, 739 [1st Dept 1982]).

As reflected in the orders on appeal, the motion court did

not rely on matters outside the record in making its

determinations.  Thus, any mention by the court of such matters

at oral argument is not a basis for reversal.

We have considered plaintiff’s remaining arguments and find

them unavailing.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
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7173 The People of the State of New York, Ind. 2361/16
Respondent,

-against-

Frank Crisalli,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Robert S. Dean, Center for Appellate Litigation, New York (Jody
Ratner of counsel), for appellant.

Cyrus R. Vance, Jr., District Attorney, New York (Alan Gadlin of
counsel), for respondent.

_________________________

An appeal having been taken to this Court by the above-named
appellant from a judgment of the Supreme Court, New York County
(Larry Stephen, J.), rendered June 15, 2016,

Said appeal having been argued by counsel for the respective
parties, due deliberation having been had thereon, and finding
the sentence not excessive,

It is unanimously ordered that the judgment so appealed from
be and the same is hereby affirmed.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK

Counsel for appellant is referred to
§ 606.5, Rules of the Appellate
Division, First Department.
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7174 The People of the State of New York, Ind. 5512N/14
Respondent,

-against-

Derrick Jones,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Seymour W. James, Jr., The Legal Aid Society, New York (Eve
Kessler of counsel), for appellant.

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Neil Ross, J.),

rendered September 22, 2015, unanimously affirmed.

Application by defendant's counsel to withdraw as counsel is

granted (see Anders v California, 386 US 738 [1967]; People v

Saunders, 52 AD2d 833 [1st Dept 1976]).  We have reviewed this

record and agree with defendant's assigned counsel that there are

no non-frivolous points which could be raised on this appeal.

Pursuant to Criminal Procedure Law § 460.20, defendant may

apply for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals by making

application to the Chief Judge of that Court and by submitting

such application to the Clerk of that Court or to a Justice of

the Appellate Division of the Supreme Court of this Department on

reasonable notice to the respondent within thirty (30) days after

service of a copy of this order.
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Denial of the application for permission to appeal by the 

judge or justice first applied to is final and no new application

may thereafter be made to any other judge or justice.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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7175 The People of the State of New York, Ind. 1539/12
Respondent,

-against-

Raheim Watts,
Defendant-Appellant.
_________________________

Seymour W. James, Jr., The Legal Aid Society, New York (Eve
Kessler of counsel), for appellant.

_________________________

Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County (Rena K. Uviller,

J.), rendered March 20, 2013, unanimously affirmed.

Application by defendant's counsel to withdraw as counsel is

granted (see Anders v California, 386 US 738 [1967]; People v

Saunders, 52 AD2d 833 [1st Dept 1976]).  We have reviewed this

record and agree with defendant's assigned counsel that there are

no non-frivolous points which could be raised on this appeal.

Pursuant to Criminal Procedure Law § 460.20, defendant may

apply for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals by making

application to the Chief Judge of that Court and by submitting

such application to the Clerk of that Court or to a Justice of

the Appellate Division of the Supreme Court of this Department on

reasonable notice to the respondent within thirty (30) days after

service of a copy of this order.
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Denial of the application for permission to appeal by the 

judge or justice first applied to is final and no new application

may thereafter be made to any other judge or justice.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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Renwick, J.P., Gische, Mazzarelli, Kern, Moulton, JJ.

7176N Dwight Drapper, Index 20500/14
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-against-

Andrew John Horan, et al.,
Defendants-Appellants.
_________________________

Sweetbaum & Sweetbaum, Lake Success (Marshall D. Sweetbaum of
counsel), for appellants.

Ogen & Sedaghati, P.C., New York (Eitan A. Ogen of counsel), for
respondent.

_________________________

Order, Supreme Court, Bronx County (Elizabeth A. Taylor,

J.), entered on or about February 2, 2018, which denied

defendants’ renewed motion to vacate the note of issue and direct

plaintiff to appear for a medical examination, unanimously

affirmed, without costs.

In his bill of particulars, plaintiff stated that he

suffered injuries, including a traumatic brain injury, when the

car he was driving was rear-ended by a car owned and operated by

defendants.  Following plaintiff’s disclosure that he was

suffering from headaches, and that an MRI of his head revealed

traumatic injury, he filed a note of issue.  Defendants, who did

not notice a physical examination, then filed an untimely motion

to vacate the note of issue, which Supreme Court denied.

Prior to trial, plaintiff, at defendants’ request, served a
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supplemental bill of particulars, which stated that he had

received additional medical treatment for his traumatic brain

injury.  Defendants then renewed their motion to vacate, and

asked the court to order plaintiff to appear for a medical

examination.    

Supreme Court properly denied the renewed motion. 

Defendants offered no reasonable explanation for their failure to

notice a medical examination before the note of issue was filed

(Alvarez v Feola, 140 AD3d 596, 596 [1st Dept 2016]).  Defendants

also failed to demonstrate that additional treatment for an

injury defendants were already aware of constitutes an “unusual

or unanticipated circumstance” to warrant vacatur and a medical

examination (see 22 NYCRR 202.21[d]; Allen v Hiraldo, 144 AD3d

434, 435 [1st Dept 2016]; Schroeder v IESI NY Corp., 24 AD3d 180,

181 [1st Dept 2005]; Arnold v New York City Hous. Auth., 282 AD2d

378, 378 [1st Dept 2001]).     
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We have considered the remaining arguments and find them

unavailing.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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FRIEDMAN, J.P.

This appeal, arising from a bitter international commercial

dispute between producers of an artificial sweetener, raises the

question of whether, under the Federal Arbitration Act (9 USC § 1

et seq.) (FAA), grounds exist to deny confirmation to an

arbitration award rendered in New York.  In the order under

review, Supreme Court vacated the award in substantial part and

remanded to the arbitrators, for their redetermination, certain

defenses and counterclaims that they had dismissed.  The court

took this action, albeit “reluctant[ly]” (as it told the parties

at oral argument), based on its view that the arbitrators, in

disposing of these defenses and counterclaims, had manifestly

disregarded the law and had misconstrued the procedural record. 

This was error.

The order vacating the award in part cannot be justified

under the “emphatic federal policy in favor of arbitral dispute

resolution” embodied in the FAA, a policy that “applies with

special force in the field of international commerce” (Mitsubishi

Motors Corp. v Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, 473 US 614, 631 [1985]).1 

1The United States Supreme Court has observed that “[a]
contractual provision specifying in advance the forum in which
disputes shall be litigated . . . is . . . an almost
indispensable precondition to achievement of the orderliness and
predictability essential to any international business
transaction.  Furthermore, such a provision obviates the danger
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Under the FAA, even if an arbitral tribunal’s legal and

procedural rulings might reasonably be criticized on the merits,

an award is not subject to vacatur for ordinary errors of the

kind the court identified in this case, as opposed to manifest

disregard of the law, a concept that, as more fully discussed

below, means “more than a simple error in law” (Wien & Malkin LLP

v Helmsley-Spear, Inc., 6 NY3d 471, 481 [2006] [internal

quotation marks omitted]).  “The potential for . . . mistakes [by

the arbitrators] is the price for agreeing to arbitration”

(Oxford Health Plans LLC v Sutter, 569 US 564, 572-573 [2013]),

and, “however disappointing [an award] may be,” parties that have

bargained for arbitration “must abide by it” (Wilkins v Allen,

169 NY 494, 497 [1902]; see also Matter of Pine St. Realty Co.,

Inc. v Coutroulos, 233 App Div 404, 407 [1st Dept 1931], lv

that a dispute under the agreement might be submitted to a forum
hostile to the interests of one of the parties or unfamiliar with
the problem area involved.  A parochial refusal by the courts of
one country to enforce an international arbitration agreement
would not only frustrate these purposes, but would invite
unseemly and mutually destructive jockeying by the parties to
secure tactical litigation advantages” (Scherk v Alberto-Culver
Co., 417 US 506, 516-517 [1974] [footnote and paragraph break
omitted]).  While the decision under review cannot fairly be
characterized as “parochial,” we are cognizant, in deciding this
appeal, of the following caution issued by The Association of the
Bar of the City of New York in the amicus curiae brief it has
submitted in support of this appeal: “Any suggestion that New
York courts will review the arbitrators’ factual and legal
determinations, as if on appeal, . . . will discourage parties
from choosing New York as the place of arbitration.”

4



denied 258 NY 609 [1932] [“Errors, mistakes, departures from

strict legal rules, are all included in the arbitration risk”]). 

Accordingly, we reverse, grant the petition to confirm the award,

and deny the cross motion to vacate it.

In 2002, petitioner Daesang Corporation and respondent The

NutraSweet Company, the world’s largest producer of the

artificial sweetener aspartame, began to discuss NutraSweet’s

potential acquisition of Daesang’s aspartame business.2  In

connection with these discussions, Daesang and NutraSweet entered

into a December 2002 Joint Defense and Confidentiality Agreement

(JDA).  Section 10 of the JDA provides, inter alia, that

NutraSweet is entitled to rescind any transaction ultimately

agreed upon in the event legal proceedings challenging the deal

as an antitrust violation are instituted “by any customer with

annual worldwide aspartame requirements in excess of 1,000,000

pounds[.]”

On April 30, 2003, Daesang and NutraSweet entered into an

Asset Purchase Agreement (APA), pursuant to which Daesang sold

all of its aspartame assets to NutraSweet for $79,250,000, $5

2Daesang is incorporated and headquartered in the Republic
of Korea.  The NutraSweet Company, which is incorporated in
Delaware and headquartered in Illinois, is the parent of the two
other respondents, NutraSweet IP Holdings, Inc. and Sweeteners
Holdings Korea Ltd.  This opinion refers to the three respondents
collectively as NutraSweet.
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million of which was to be paid at closing and the remainder in

five annual installment payments.  In connection with the APA,

the parties also entered into a Processing Agreement, dated May

13, 2003, pursuant to which NutraSweet engaged Daesang to provide

aspartame production services at the Korean manufacturing

facilities that NutraSweet was acquiring.  The APA and the

Processing Agreement each provides that it is governed by New

York law and that disputes are to be resolved through arbitration

by a three-member tribunal in New York under the rules of the

International Chamber of Commerce.  In this regard, the APA

provides that “the resolution of disputes by the arbitrators . .

. shall be conclusive and binding upon and non-appealable by the

Parties.”

The APA and the Processing Agreement contain a number of

representations and warranties by Daesang that are relevant to

this appeal.  Among these is Daesang’s representation in the APA

that it “has complied in all material respects with all

applicable laws” in operating its aspartame business (the

compliance-with-law warranty).  Also pertinent are Daesang’s

representations and warranties in the APA and the Processing

Agreement concerning its product quality, manufacturing

processes,  production capacity, and production costs, and

concerning the absence of customer complaints.  However, another
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provision of the APA bars either party from seeking rescission

based solely on the other party’s breach of its representations

and warranties in the APA or the Processing Agreement.

After the transaction closed in May 2003, NutraSweet made

the 2004 and 2005 annual installment payments of the purchase

price under the APA, each in the amount of $5 million.3 

NutraSweet failed, however, to remit the third installment

payment of $9.25 million, which became due in June 2006.  In

December 2006, after the requisite period of time had passed

without cure of the default, Daesang exercised its right under

the APA to accelerate the $55 million balance of the purchase

price.  In March 2007, Daesang notified NutraSweet that, pursuant

to Daesang’s rights under the APA in the event of a default,

Daesang would resume manufacturing aspartame for its own account

at the Korean plant NutraSweet had purchased.  Five days later,

NutraSweet notified Daesang that it was rescinding the

transaction pursuant to section 10 of the JDA, based on an

antitrust class action that several industrial aspartame

customers had commenced against NutraSweet and Daesang (among

other aspartame producers) in June 2006 (In re Aspartame

3Daesang granted NutraSweet a four-month extension of the
due date for the second installment payment but denied
NutraSweet’s request for an additional extension thereafter.
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Antitrust Litig., US Dist Ct, ED Pa, Master Docket No. 2:06-CV-

1732).

In June 2008, Daesang, pursuant to the arbitration

provisions of the APA and the Processing Agreement, commenced an

arbitration proceeding against NutraSweet, seeking about $80

million in damages, plus interest, for breach of those

agreements.  NutraSweet filed its answer, defenses and

counterclaims in August 2008.  As clarified by the prehearing

memorandum it submitted to the arbitrators in July 2010,

NutraSweet asserted four defenses and counterclaims against

Daesang:

(1) First, NutraSweet asserted that it had validly
rescinded the entire transaction pursuant to section 10
of the JDA, based on the Aspartame Antitrust action,
which was brought on behalf of a class comprising all
industrial aspartame customers worldwide — although it
is undisputed that the annual requirements of the named
plaintiffs in that proceeding, even in aggregate, did
not meet the million-pound level required to trigger
the contractual right of rescission.

(2) Second, NutraSweet asserted that, independent
of the JDA’s rescission provision, it was entitled to
“equitable rescission” of the transaction on the ground
that Daesang’s compliance-with-law warranty in the APA
had been false when made and had fraudulently induced
NutraSweet to enter into the deal.4

4NutraSweet’s claim of the falsity of Daesang’s compliance-
with-law warranty is principally based on an affidavit by Dae
Yeob Park, a Daesang executive, that was submitted in the
Aspartame Antitrust case.  In this affidavit, Park admits that
Daesang had committed certain antitrust violations in running its
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(3) Third, NutraSweet asserted it was entitled to
equitable rescission based on the alleged falsity of
Daesang’s representations and warranties in the APA and
Processing Agreement concerning its product quality,
manufacturing processes, production capacity, and
production costs, and concerning the absence of
complaints from customers.

(4) Fourth, NutraSweet alleged that Daesang had
“continuously breached its obligations under the [APA
and the Processing Agreement]” by “fail[ing] to
maintain the plant, fail[ing] to manufacture aspartame
according to the agreed-upon specifications, and
fail[ing] to supply NutraSweet with sufficient
quantities of saleable aspartame.”

In support of their claims and defenses, the parties

submitted, in addition to their pleadings and legal memoranda,

written declarations by 20 witnesses and hundreds of evidentiary

exhibits.  In July 2011, a nine-day evidentiary hearing was held

in New York before the tribunal of three arbitrators, at which 11

witnesses were cross-examined.  At the end of the hearing, the

tribunal directed the parties to make additional submissions,

including documents outlining the parties’ respective claims and

defenses, with citations of supporting evidence and legal

authority.

Pursuant to the tribunal’s direction, NutraSweet submitted a

76-page document entitled “NutraSweet’s Post-Hearing Summaries”

aspartame business before the sale to NutraSweet.  As Daesang
points out, however, Park alleges in his affidavit that
NutraSweet itself — a much larger aspartame producer than Daesang
— participated in the anticompetitive activities he describes.
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(hereinafter, the NS Post-Hearing Summaries), which, among other

things, set forth, in outline form, NutraSweet’s aforementioned

four defenses and counterclaims — the first for rescission under

the JDA, the second and third for rescission based on fraudulent

inducement, and the fourth for breach of contract.  Attached to

the NS Post-Hearing Summaries was a three-page exhibit marked for

identification as “NS 230 — Updated,” and entitled “Summary of

NutraSweet’s Counterclaim Damages Based on JDA and Equitable

Rescission Alternatives” (hereinafter, NS 230), which sets forth

separate tabular calculations of damages based, respectively, on

rescission pursuant to the JDA (the first counterclaim) and

“equitable rescission” (the second and third counterclaims).5 

Perhaps fatefully for the outcome of the arbitration, NS 230 does

not identify either set of damages calculations as relating to

NutraSweet’s fourth counterclaim, for breach of contract. 

Nevertheless, the summary of the breach-of-contract counterclaim

in the NS Post-Hearing Summaries asserts that the arbitrators

“should enter an award [on that claim] in favor of NutraSweet in

5Although NS 230 calculates the damages to be awarded in the
event the panel validated NutraSweet’s rescission of the
transaction pursuant to the JDA, the summary of the JDA
rescission claim in the NS Post-Hearing Summaries does not
mention any damages sought in connection with this claim.  This
unexplained discrepancy does not affect the disposition of this
appeal.
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the amount [including interest through August 1, 2011] of

$13,857,782.33” — the same amount sought in connection with the

counterclaim for rescission based on the JDA.6

After a full day of oral closing argument was heard in New

York on October 20, 2011, the tribunal issued a 34-page “Partial

Final Award,” dated December 21, 2012 (the partial award),

unanimously finding in favor of Daesang on all of its claims and

dismissing all of NutraSweet’s defenses and counterclaims. 

NutraSweet’s first counterclaim, asserting that it had validly

rescinded the transaction pursuant to section 10 of the JDA, was

rejected on the ground that the named plaintiffs in the Aspartame

Antitrust class action, regardless of the broad class they

purported to represent, did not themselves meet the annual one-

million-pound-requirement threshold for triggering the

contractual right to rescind.  The second and third

6Confusingly, the same page of the NS Post-Hearing Summaries
states that “NutraSweet is entitled to a monetary award of
$14,195,685.33” based on Daesang’s alleged breaches.  The
discrepancy corresponds to a set-off of $337,903 that was applied
in NS 230 in reaching the lesser damages figure ($13,857,782.33)
on the claim for rescission under the JDA.  We note that the
counterclaims for fraud-based rescission sought a greater amount
of damages ($20,691,915.99) because those claims sought a
recovery that included the refund of the portion of the purchase
price that NutraSweet had paid, less the amount of those payments
that had been allocated to inventory.  Under the JDA, Daesang was
entitled to keep any portion of the purchase price that had been
paid before a rescission pursuant to Section 10 of that agreement
went into effect.
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counterclaims, for rescission based on alleged fraud in Daesang’s

compliance-with-law warranty and its other contractual

representations and warranties, were rejected on the ground that,

based on the tribunal’s analysis of the case law cited by the

parties, such claims were contractual in nature and could not be

pursued on a theory of fraudulent inducement under New York law. 

As to breach of contract, while the arbitrators recognized that

NutraSweet alleged that Daesang had committed numerous breaches

of the APA and the Processing Agreement, they concluded that

NutraSweet “ha[d] not asserted any alleged breaches of the APA

and the Processing Agreement as a claim independent of its claims

for rescission of those agreements.”  In this regard, the

tribunal emphasized that section 9(g) of the APA expressly

provides that neither party has “the right to rescind, revoke or

terminate” the transaction based on any “breach or failure to

perform any representation, warranty, covenant or obligation” of

the APA or the Processing Agreement.  Accordingly, NutraSweet’s

fourth defense and counterclaim, for breach of contract, was

dismissed.  The partial award reserved decision on the remedy to

be granted to Daesang, which would be determined, after

additional submissions by the parties, in a final award.

After the partial award was issued, NutraSweet submitted to

the tribunal its “Statement as to the Appropriate Remedy,” dated
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October 3, 2014 (the NS Remedy Statement).  In the NS Remedy

Statement, NutraSweet took the position that, because the value

of the aspartame assets that it had returned to Daesang exceeded

Daesang’s alleged damages on its claims for breach of contract,

“Daesang suffered no damages and is entitled to no recovery.” 

NutraSweet also requested that the partial award in favor of

Daesang be reconsidered.  In seeking reconsideration, NutraSweet

argued, inter alia, that the tribunal had misapplied New York law

in dismissing the fraudulent inducement counterclaim based on the

compliance-with-law warranty and had been mistaken in concluding

that NutraSweet did not seek damages for breach of contract

independent of its claims for rescission.  In the latter regard, 

NutraSweet asserted that it had “always . . . asserted stand-

alone counterclaims for damages and set-offs based on Daesang’s

breaches of the APA and the Processing Agreement.”  In support of

the argument concerning the breach of contract counterclaim,

NutraSweet pointed to the request for damages on that claim in

the NS Post-Hearing Summaries and to its counsel’s statement at

the closing argument, when asked whether NutraSweet was pursuing

fraud claims or breach of contract claims, that “‘[w]e have both

claims, we have a claim for fraud in Section III of the Post-

Hearing Summaries and we have a claim for breach of contract in

13



Section IV[.]’”7  The NS Remedy Statement concluded by requesting

that the tribunal reconsider the partial award and “award

NutraSweet $14,195,685.33 in damages, plus interest, as detailed

in [the NS] Post-Hearing Summaries § IV, and as summarized again

in the table above.”8

The tribunal issued a final award, dated June 14, 2016,

awarding Daesang damages in the total amount of $100,766,258,

which included, among other elements, the $64.25 million unpaid

balance of the purchase price under the APA and interest through

June 10, 2016.  The tribunal stood by its dismissal of all of

NutraSweet’s defenses and counterclaims, including the dismissal

of the counterclaim for damages for breach of contract.  In

7The conclusion of counsel’s quoted sentence, for which the
NS Remedy Statement substituted an ellipsis, was: “. . . and I am
just dealing with them together here to make it quicker.”

8This statement refers to a damages table set forth earlier
in the NS Remedy Statement, in which NutraSweet calculated its
damages for breach of contract (with interest through August 1,
2011) as $14,195,685.33, again, without explaining the failure to
apply the $337,903 set-off that had been used in calculating
damages on its other claims.  To the $14,195,685.33 figure, the
NS Remedy Statement’s table added $2,734,012.27 for interest from
August 2, 2011 through October 31, 2014, and a further recovery 
of $3,224,669.  The latter figure — which NutraSweet apparently
requested for the first time in the NS Remedy Statement,
submitted after the arbitrator’s initial decision — represented
“restitution” of the amount by which the alleged value of the
returned aspartame assets exceeded the damages claimed by
Daesang.  Thus, the total recovery NutraSweet sought in the NS
Remedy Statement was $20,154,366.60.
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response to NutraSweet’s position that it had asserted a

freestanding claim for damages for breach of contract, the

tribunal concluded that, to the extent NutraSweet had asserted

any such claim, that claim had been waived in the course of the

proceedings.  The arbitrators wrote:

“To the extent [NutraSweet] sought to assert a
damages claim for breach of contract at an earlier
stage in this arbitration, by the time of oral argument
following the evidentiary hearing [NutraSweet] chose to
pursue a strategy of seeking only rescission and only
damages relating to rescission. . . .  This meant
waiving any independent breach of contract claim. 
Having submitted [its] case exclusively on a theory of
rescission to the Tribunal in response to specific
questions from the Tribunal as to the precise remedy
being sought and based on an exhibit that only provided
for rescissionary damages [NS230-Updated][,]
[NutraSweet] cannot now, after the fact and years of
arbitration, attempt to change their theory of the case
when that theory turns out to have been unsuccessful.”

In support of its finding that NutraSweet had waived any

freestanding claim for damages for breach of contract, the

tribunal cited the following excerpts from the transcript of the

October 2011 closing arguments (emphases and ellipses below are

as set forth in the final award):

“THE CHAIRMAN: What is [sic] the contract
provisions that this claim is based on and what is the
basis for the rescission remedy?

“Because as I understand it this claim, like the
one we have just talked about, the remedy that is being
sought is rescission.

“[NUTRASWEET’S COUNSEL]: The remedy that is being
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sought under section 3 is equitable rescission, section
3 of NutraSweet’s post hearing summaries.

“For some of the same claims NutraSweet also seeks
damages under section 4 in the context of its
rescission claim NutraSweet is also seeking, for lack
of a better term, rescissionary damages or out-of-
pocket damages, things which NutraSweet expanded that
improved the plant in Gusan . . .

“In the rescission context NutraSweet is asking
for a return of the out-of-pocket expenditures to put
it back in the place that the parties were had the
contract never been made.”

* * *

“[TRIBUNAL MEMBER]: But when I went back to reread
what is written here irrespective of whether you tied
the two together with NS 230 or not you are looking for
damages on all of these claims.

“[NUTRASWEET’S COUNSEL]: Rescission including the
purchase price payments returned and then the
rescissionary damages meaning the money we spent
improving Daesang’s plant and the other items.

* * *

“Those are not breach of contract damages.”

“[TRIBUNAL MEMBER]: I am not asking breach [of]
contract or not.

“I am just talking about what you are seeking
here.”

* * *

“[NUTRASWEET’S COUNSEL]: Rescission including
money.  Not rescission plus money.”

* * *

“[DAESANG’S COUNSEL]: The point is that he is
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trying to make he is not asking for money damages for
the specific act of violating 3Q and 3V [of the
APA].[9]

“Is that a fair statement?

“[NUTRASWEET’S COUNSEL]: That is a fair statement.

“The money that NutraSweet is seeking based on
that is based on the rescission to put the parties back
in the position they were status quo ante.

“But that is true.  There are no contract damages
that NutraSweet is seeking for failure to disclose the
Coke complaint before the transaction.

“THE CHAIRMAN: Okay.  That helps.”

The tribunal also based its finding of waiver on NS 230, the

damages exhibit, concerning which the arbitrators wrote:

“[NutraSweet] specifically set out the damages that [it
was] seeking in [NS 230].  This document lists two
categories of damages that were sought as part of
[NutraSweet’s] rescission counterclaims — ‘Purchase
Price Payment’ and ‘Breach of Contract/Fraudulent
Misrepresentations.’  All the damages that NutraSweet
sought in this arbitration fall into one of two legal
theories — ‘JDA Rescission’ or ‘Equitable Rescission.’ 
[NutraSweet] did not seek damages under any other
theory and specifically did not seek any damages
outside [its] claims of rescission.  Importantly, there
is no claim for damages based on an alleged breach of
contract.”

In September 2016, Daesang commenced this proceeding in

Supreme Court, New York County, by filing its petition to confirm

9Sections 3(q) and 3(v) of the APA are Daesang’s
representations concerning the absence of prior customer
complaints.
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the final award pursuant to article 75 of the CPLR and the FAA. 

NutraSweet answered and cross-moved to vacate both the partial

award and the final award “on the grounds that the arbitrators

manifestly disregarded the law and evidence, violated public

policy, and utterly failed to discharge their duties in

accordance with the law and the Terms of Reference governing the

arbitration[.]”

After hearing argument in December 2016, Supreme Court

issued an order, entered May 15, 2017, granting NutraSweet’s

motion to vacate the awards to the extent of vacating the

dismissals of the second and third counterclaims seeking

equitable rescission based on fraudulent inducement and of the

fourth counterclaim for breach of contract, and remanding the

matter to the arbitration tribunal for a “redetermination” of

those claims.  Daesang’s petition for confirmation was held in

abeyance pending the tribunal’s redetermination of the remanded

claims.

In its decision, Supreme Court recognized that the

enforceability of the partial award and final award is governed

by the FAA, that judicial review of an arbitration award under

the FAA (as under New York law) is extremely limited, and that

the doctrine of manifest disregard of the law does not authorize

a court to vacate an arbitration award based simply on the
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arbitrators’ arguable error or misunderstanding of the applicable

law.  Applying these principles, the court concluded that it

could not vacate the tribunal’s dismissal of NutraSweet’s

counterclaim for rescission under section 10 of the JDA.10  The

court reached a different conclusion, however, with regard to the

dismissal of the counterclaims for equitable rescission and for

breach of contract.

Concerning the counterclaims for equitable rescission, the

court found that “the Tribunal chose to disregard the well-

established principle [invoked by NutraSweet during the

arbitration] that a fraud claim can be based on a breach of

contractual warranties where the misrepresentations are of

present facts (in contrast to future performance) and cause the

actual losses claimed.”  As to the counterclaim for breach of

contract, the court found that “a careful reading of the

transcript utterly fails to demonstrate that there was a waiver

by Nutra[S]weet of its breach of contract counterclaim at the

10The court found that the dismissal of the counterclaim for
rescission under the JDA had to be upheld under the FAA even
though the court disagreed with the arbitrators’ view that the
aspartame requirements solely of the named plaintiffs in the
Aspartame Antitrust class action could be considered in
determining whether the contractual right to rescind had been
triggered.  Because NutraSweet, the only party aggrieved by this
aspect of the decision, has not taken an appeal, we need not
further consider the claim for rescission under the JDA. 
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October 20, 2011 [closing argument] hearing.”  The court opined

that “[t]he portion of the transcript relied upon by the Tribunal

was a dialogue concerning counterclaim III, re[s]cission, not

[counterclaim] IV, breach of contract.  Thus, there was no basis

to conclude that there was a waiver by NutraSweet.”  Therefore,

the court concluded, “The refusal to consider the merits of

NutraSweet’s breach of contract counterclaim and the baseless

determination of waiver goes beyond mere error in law or facts,

and amounts to an egregious dereliction of duty on the part of

the Tribunal” (citing Wien & Malkin, 6 NY3d at 480-481).  The

court did not reach NutraSweet’s argument that enforcement of the

awards would be contrary to public policy.  This appeal by

Daesang ensued.

The parties agree that the enforcement of the arbitration

awards rendered in this international commercial dispute is

governed by the Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of

Foreign Arbitral Awards of June 10, 1958 (21 UST 2517, reprinted

following 9 USCA § 201) (the Convention) and by the FAA (see

Yusuf Ahmed Alghanim & Sons, W.L.L. v Toys “R” Us, Inc., 126 F3d

15, 18-19 [2d Cir 1997], cert denied 522 US 1111 [1998]). 

Because the awards were rendered in the United States, the FAA

governs (pursuant to the Convention, art V, § 1[e], and 9 USC §

208) whether the awards may be set aside or vacated in this
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proceeding brought within the United States (Yusuf Ahmed Alghanim

& Sons, 126 F3d at 20-23).  The Convention and the FAA mandate,

however, that a court “shall confirm [an arbitral] award unless

it finds one of the grounds for refusal or deferral of

recognition or enforcement of the award specified in the said

Convention” (9 USC § 207; Convention, art V, §§ 1, 2).

The Court of Appeals has offered the following guidance

concerning the enforcement of arbitration awards under the FAA:

“It is well settled that judicial review of
arbitration awards is extremely limited.  An
arbitration award must be upheld when the arbitrator
offers even a barely colorable justification for the
outcome reached.  Indeed, we have stated time and again
that an arbitrator’s award should not be vacated for
errors of law and fact committed by the arbitrator and
the courts should not assume the role of overseers to
mold the award to conform to their sense of justice”
(Wien & Malkin, 6 NY3d at 479-480 [citations, brackets
and internal quotation marks omitted]).

The FAA expressly provides four grounds on which a court,

upon application by a party, may vacate an arbitration award (9

USC § 10[a]).  Of these four express statutory grounds for

vacatur, only one is invoked by NutraSweet here — a situation

“where the arbitrators exceeded their powers, or so imperfectly

executed them that a mutual, final and definite award upon the

subject matter submitted was not made” (9 USC § 10[a][4]).  In

addition, NutraSweet argues that the subject awards are subject

to vacatur on the implied ground of manifest disregard of the law
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(see Wilko v Swan, 346 US 427, 436-437 [1953]), of which the

Court of Appeals has written:

“[A]n award may be vacated under federal law if it
exhibits a ‘manifest disregard of the law’ (Duferco
Intl. Steel Trading v T. Klaveness Shipping A/S, 333
F3d 383, 388 [2d Cir 2003]; Goldman v Architectural
Iron Co., 306 F3d 1214, 1216 [2d Cir 2002], citing
DiRussa v Dean Witter Reynolds Inc., 121 F3d 818, 821
[2d Cir 1997]).  But manifest disregard of the law is a
‘severely limited’ doctrine (Matter of Arbitration No.
AAA13-161-0511-85 Under Grain Arbitration Rules, 867
F2d 130, 133 [2d Cir 1989]).  It is a doctrine of last
resort limited to the rare occurrences of apparent
‘egregious impropriety’ on the part of the arbitrators,
‘where none of the provisions of the FAA apply’
(Duferco, 333 F3d at 389).  The doctrine of manifest
disregard, therefore, ‘gives extreme deference to
arbitrators’ (DiRussa, 121 F3d at 821).  The Second
Circuit has also indicated that the doctrine requires
‘more than a simple error in law or a failure by the
arbitrators to understand or apply it; and, it is more
than an erroneous interpretation of the law” (Duferco,
333 F3d at 389).  We agree with that premise.  To
modify or vacate an award on the ground of manifest
disregard of the law, a court must find ‘both that (1)
the arbitrators knew of a governing legal principle yet
refused to apply it or ignored it altogether, and (2)
the law ignored by the arbitrators was well defined,
explicit, and clearly applicable to the case’ (Wallace
v Buttar, 378 F3d 182, 189 [2d Cir 2004], quoting Banco
de Seguros del Estado v Mutual Mar. Off., Inc., 344 F3d
255, 263 [2d Cir 2003])” (Wien & Malkin, 6 NY3d at 480-
481 [footnotes omitted]).11

11Since Wien & Malkin was decided, the Second Circuit has
clarified, in light of Hall St. Assoc., L.L.C. v Mattel, Inc.
(552 US 576 [2008]), that it regards the doctrine of manifest
disregard of the law as “a judicial gloss on the specific grounds
for vacatur enumerated in section 10 of the FAA,” rather than as
“a ground for vacatur entirely separate from those enumerated in
the FAA” (Stolt-Nielsen SA v AnimalFeeds Intl. Corp., 548 F3d 85,
94 [2d Cir 2008], revd on other grounds 559 US 662 [2010]).
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We turn first to the arbitrators’ dismissal of NutraSweet’s

second and third counterclaims for equitable rescission of the

transaction based on fraud in the inducement.  As previously

noted, Supreme Court set aside this determination, and remanded

the two equitable rescission counterclaims to the arbitrators for

redetermination, on the ground that the tribunal had manifestly

disregarded the law in holding that these claims, based on

allegedly false representations made by Daesang in the APA and

the Processing Agreement, were contractual in nature and

therefore could not be pursued by NutraSweet on a theory of

fraud.  In so doing, Supreme Court plainly erred.  At most, the

tribunal “state[d] an intention to apply a law, and then

misapplie[d] it,” which constitutes nothing more than a mere

error of law for which “[an] award will not be set aside” (Matter

of Sprinzen [Nomberg], 46 NY2d 623, 629 [1979]).

To recapitulate, NutraSweet, in its second and third

counterclaims, alleges that Daesang’s compliance-with-law

warranty in the APA, and several other representations and

warranties concerning Daesang’s aspartame business in the APA and

the Processing Agreement, were materially false when made. 

Before the arbitrators, NutraSweet contended that, because these

allegedly false contractual representations fraudulently induced

it to enter into the transaction, it was entitled to rescission
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of the entire transaction on equitable grounds.12  The parties

disputed, among other issues relating to these counterclaims,

whether claims that contractual representations had been false

when made could be pursued on a fraud theory (as opposed to a

theory of breach of contract) under New York law.

In debating whether the second and third counterclaims could

be maintained on a theory of fraud, each side relied on an

opposing line of decisional authority.  One of the cases on which

NutraSweet placed primary reliance was Merrill Lynch & Co. Inc. v

Allegheny Energy, Inc. (500 F3d 171 [2d Cir 2007]).  In

dismissing the equitable rescission counterclaims in the partial

award, the arbitrators quoted and applied (whether correctly or

incorrectly) the following standard set forth in Merrill Lynch

for resolving the issue presented:

“[U]nder New York law, parallel fraud and contract
claims may be brought if the plaintiff (1) demonstrates
a legal duty separate from the duty to perform under
the contract; (2) points to a fraudulent
misrepresentation that is collateral or extraneous to
the contract; or (3) seeks special damages that are
unrecoverable as contract damages” (id. at 183).

12Again, Supreme Court upheld the arbitrator’s dismissal of
NutraSweet’s first counterclaim, for contractual rescission
pursuant to section 10 of the JDA, and that claim is not at issue
on this appeal.  It should also be borne in mind that NutraSweet
could not seek rescission on a breach-of-contract theory because,
as previously noted, the APA bars rescission as a remedy for
breach of a representation or warranty. 
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The tribunal went on to discuss the facts of Merrill Lynch,

observing that the fraud claim in that case was allowed to

proceed because it was

“based on misrepresentations regarding the financial
statements delivered to Allegheny before the parties
entered into their contract.  This involved a legal
duty separate from the duty to perform under the
contract and also involved a misrepresentation that was
collateral or extraneous to the contract.  Thus, the
misrepresentations with respect to the financial
statements could give rise to a claim for fraud wholly
apart from any claim for breach of contract” (citation
and internal quotation marks omitted).

The tribunal concluded that Merrill Lynch was

distinguishable from the instant matter because NutraSweet

“rel[ies] only on the language of the representations
in the APA to support [its] claim of fraud in the
inducement.  However, the contract provision does not
create a legal duty separate from the contract; it is
not a provision collateral or extraneous to the
contract. . . . Thus, [NutraSweet’s] reliance on the
Merrill Lynch decision is misplaced.”

The tribunal further opined that “[t]he facts of this case are

much more similar to the cases relied on by Daesang,” citing,

inter alia, Dyncorp v GTE Corp. (215 F Supp 2d 308, 324 [SD NY

2007] [dismissing “fraud claims based on the breach of

contractual warranties and representations . . . as duplicative

of (the party’s) claim for breach of contract”]).

The foregoing suffices to show that the resolution in the

partial award of the issue of the viability of NutraSweet’s fraud
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counterclaims — whether or not that resolution was correct (a

question on which we express no opinion) — does not meet the high

standard required to establish manifest disregard of the law,

namely, a showing that “the arbitrator[s] knew of the relevant

principle, appreciated that this principle controlled the outcome

of the disputed issue, and nonetheless willfully flouted the

governing law by refusing to apply it” (Westerbeke Corp. v

Daihatsu Motor Co., 304 F3d 200, 217 [2d Cir 2002]).  On the

contrary, the tribunal accepted the authority of the decision on

which NutraSweet primarily relied (Merrill Lynch) and, “after

analyzing [the] case law offered by both sides” (Cheng v Oxford

Health Plans, Inc., 45 AD3d 356, 357 [1st Dept 2007]), made a

good-faith effort to apply to the facts of this case the Merrill

Lynch standard proffered by NutraSweet.  That the arbitrators did

not accept NutraSweet’s view of how the relevant legal principle

applies to the facts of this case does not amount to “refus[ing]

to apply [the principle] or ignor[ing] it altogether” (Wien &

Malkin, 6 NY3d at 481 [internal quotation marks omitted]).  The

arbitrators’ ruling, whether or not we agree with it on the

merits, more than meets the requirement that there be at least “a

barely colorable justification for the outcome reached” (id. at

479 [internal quotation marks omitted]).  Even if a thorough

analysis of the underlying legal issue (which we do not propose
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to undertake here) would lead us to conclude that NutraSweet was

correct on the merits, a finding of manifest disregard of the law

“requires more than a simple error in law or a failure by the

arbitrators to understand or apply it” (id. at 481 [internal

quotation marks omitted]).  On this record, NutraSweet can show

nothing more than this.

Moreover, it cannot be said that the point of law at issue

was sufficiently “well defined” (id. [internal quotation marks

omitted]) to give rise to a claim that the award was rendered in

manifest disregard of the law.  The meaning of the rule that an

alleged misrepresentation is actionable as fraud if it is

“collateral or extraneous to the contract” (Merrill Lynch, 500

F3d at 183) — which NutraSweet unsuccessfully argued to the

tribunal that its second and third counterclaims satisfied — is

not necessarily transparent from the quoted words alone and must

be drawn out through detailed analysis of cases in which the rule

has been applied.  Even if the arbitrators erred in concluding

that NutraSweet’s fraud claims were not “collateral or

extraneous” to the contractual representations in the APA and the

Processing Agreement, the arbitrators did not manifestly

disregard the law by according to the quoted decisional language

what may have reasonably seemed to them its natural meaning. 

Certainly, any error by the arbitrators in deciding this issue
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(and, again, we make no determination as to whether they in fact

erred) was far from “obvious and capable of being readily and

instantly perceived by the average person qualified to serve as

an arbitrator” (Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. v

Bobker, 808 F2d 930, 933-934 [2d Cir 1986]), which is the

standard for a showing of manifest disregard of the law.13

In its appellate brief, NutraSweet appears to defend the

vacatur of the dismissal of its second counterclaim (based on the

alleged falsity of the compliance-with-law warranty) on the

ground that “Daesang’s admissions of criminal wrongdoing [in the

aforementioned affidavit of its executive, Dae Yeob Park] should

have been of critical importance to the arbitrators’

deliberations[.]”  Any such argument, to the effect that the

13The difficulty of applying the legal rule in question is
highlighted by the fact that there were dissents from two of the
decisions of this Court cited by Supreme Court (in the decision
appealed from) and by NutraSweet (on this appeal) in support of
the position that the arbitrators manifestly disregarded the law
(see Wyle Inc. v ITT Corp., 130 AD3d 438, 442-450 [1st Dept 2015]
[Moskowitz, J., dissenting]); GoSmile, Inc. v Levine, 81 AD3d 77,
83-84 [1st Dept 2010], lv dismissed 17 NY3d 782 [2011] [Nardelli,
J., dissenting in part]).  Wyle, which was decided after the
issuance of the partial award, is in any event irrelevant to
determining whether the tribunal manifestly disregarded the law
because that decision was never brought to the attention of the
tribunal.  We note that, contrary to a statement in the decision
appealed from, nowhere in either the partial award or the final
award did the arbitrators “mischaracterize[] NutraSweet’s
fraudulent inducement counterclaim and defense as one in which
NutraSweet merely alleged that Daesang made an insincere promise
of future performance.”
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tribunal did not give sufficient weight to a part of the

evidentiary record before it, is entirely without merit. 

“Manifest disregard of the facts is not a permissible ground for

vacatur of an award” (Wien & Malkin, 6 NY3d at 483; see also

United Paperworkers Intl. Union, AFL-CIO v Misco, Inc., 484 US

29, 39 [1987] [“improvident, even silly, factfinding” does not

afford “a sufficient basis for disregarding what the agent

appointed by the parties determined to be the historical

facts”]); Matter of Dowleyne v New York City Tr. Auth., 3 NY3d

633, 634 [2004] [reversing vacatur of an award “because (the

court) improperly substituted its factual finding for that of a

majority of the arbitration panel”]).14

This brings us to NutraSweet’s fourth counterclaim, for

breach of contract, the dismissal of which by the arbitrators —

first (in the partial award) on the ground that NutraSweet had

not asserted any claim for breach of contract independent of its

dismissed rescission claims, then (in the final award) on the

14We note that, although the tribunal did not base its
dismissal of the second counterclaim on findings of fact, it may
well have concluded that, if it were to credit Park’s admission
in his affidavit that Daesang had participated in an
anticompetitive conspiracy, it should also credit Park’s
allegations in the same affidavit that NutraSweet had been
involved in the same conspiracy — which, if true, would negate
NutraSweet’s claim of reliance on Daesang’s compliance-with-law
warranty.
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ground that NutraSweet had waived any freestanding claim to

recover damages for breach of contract — was vacated by Supreme

Court as “an egregious dereliction of duty on the part of the

Tribunal.”  On appeal, Daesang argues that there were no grounds

for this judicial action under the FAA because the court failed

to identify any “well defined and clearly applicable” point of

law that the arbitrators had disregarded, and because the

arbitrators’ factual findings and procedural rulings were beyond

the court’s review.  We agree.

In opposing Daesang’s appeal, NutraSweet chiefly argues that

Supreme Court’s reinstatement of its breach of contract

counterclaim was warranted by the provision of the FAA

authorizing vacatur of an award “where the arbitrators exceeded

their powers, or so imperfectly executed them that a mutual,

final, and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was

not made” (9 USC § 10[a][4]).15  NutraSweet contends that its

breach of contract counterclaim was submitted to the arbitrator

as a freestanding claim for monetary damages (independent of the

counterclaims for rescission) and — contrary to the arbitrators’

15NutraSweet does not identify any point of law that was
known to the arbitrators but disregarded by them in dismissing
the breach of contract counterclaim.  We therefore conclude that
the vacatur of this aspect of the partial and final awards cannot
be affirmed as a proper application of the doctrine of manifest
disregard of the law.
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ultimate determination — was never waived or withdrawn. 

Therefore, NutraSweet argues, the tribunal’s dismissal of the

breach of contract counterclaim without addressing its merits

rendered the final award such an “imperfect[] execut[ion]” of the

arbitrators’ powers that the final award was not “a mutual, final

and definite award upon the subject matter submitted[.]”

Contrary to NutraSweet’s arguments, that an arbitral

tribunal disposed of a claim or defense on procedural grounds,

without reaching its merits — even if such a disposition would

have constituted error reversible on appeal in a judicial

proceeding — does not mean that the arbitral tribunal exceeded or

imperfectly executed its powers, nor does it mean that the

resulting award falls short of being a mutual, final, and

definite award upon that claim or defense (see AmeriCredit Fin.

Servs., Inc. v Oxford Mgt. Servs., 627 F Supp 2d 85, 96 [ED NY

2008] [“Regardless of whether the arbitrator dismissed

defendant’s counterclaim on the merits or as a procedural matter,

that decision is within his broad grant of authority under the

(arbitration agreement)”]).  While, as previously noted, this

matter is governed by the FAA, we observe that similar

conclusions have been reached by courts applying the analogue of

9 USC § 10(a)(4) in CPLR article 75, which authorizes vacatur

where an arbitrator “exceeded his [or her] power or so
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imperfectly executed it that a final and definite award upon the

subject matter submitted was not made” (CPLR 7511[b][iii]).  “An

award is deficient . . . only if it leaves the parties unable to

determine their rights and obligations, if it does not resolve

the controversy submitted or if it creates a new controversy”

(Matter of Meisels v Uhr, 79 NY2d 526, 536 [1992]; see also

Yoonessi v Givens, 78 AD3d 1622, 1623 [4th Dept 2010], lv denied 

17 NY3d 718 [2011] [“the arbitration award was final and definite

. . . even if (the arbitrators) failed to consider an award for

economic loss or loss of consortium”]; Matter of Wabst v

Scoppetta, 56 AD3d 399, 399 [1st Dept 2008] [“The arbitrator’s

refusal to address petitioner’s state law defenses to charges 9

and 10, based on his mistaken belief that he lacked jurisdiction,

does not deprive the award of finality and definiteness”]).

Moreover, Supreme Court’s determination, based on its own

“careful reading of the transcript,” that the tribunal had

misinterpreted the procedural history of the arbitration in

finding that NutraSweet had waived its breach of contract

counterclaim, was misplaced in a proceeding brought to confirm an

arbitration award under the FAA.  Even if a “careful reading of

the transcript” would lead us to agree that the tribunal’s

finding of waiver in the final award was based on a

misunderstanding of NutraSweet’s oral arguments and written
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submissions, it would not affect the outcome of this appeal.  A

court is not empowered by the FAA to review the arbitrators’

procedural findings, any more than it is empowered to review the

arbitrators’ determinations of law or fact.  “[W]hen the subject

matter of a dispute is arbitrable, ‘procedural’ questions which

grow out of the dispute and bear on its final disposition are to

be left to the arbitrator” (United Paperworkers, 484 US at 40;

cf. Howsam v Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 537 US 79, 84 [2002]

[noting that “the presumption is that the arbitrator should

decide allegations of waiver” when asserted as a defense to

arbitration] [internal quotation marks and brackets omitted]).

Given that parties agreeing to arbitrate their disputes

entrust the determination of procedural issues arising out of the

arbitration — no less than issues of law and of fact — to the

arbitrators, the arbitrators’ reading of the procedural record

before them should be judged by the same highly deferential

standard that is applied to their construction of the parties’

agreements.  Thus, “an arbitral decision even arguably construing

or applying the [procedural record] must stand, regardless of a

court’s view of its (de)merits” (Oxford Health Plans, 569 US at

569 [internal quotation marks omitted]).  “So the sole question

for us is whether the arbitrator[s] (even arguably) interpreted

the [procedural record], not whether [they] got its meaning right
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or wrong” (id.).  If it were otherwise, “arbitration would become

merely a prelude to a more cumbersome and time-consuming judicial

review process” (id. at 568-569 [internal quotation marks

omitted]).  As with issues of contractual interpretation,

“plenary review by a court of the [procedural record] would make

meaningless the provisions that the arbitrator’s decision is

final, for in reality it would almost never be final” (United

Steelworkers of Am. v Enterprise Wheel & Car Corp., 363 US 593,

599 [1960]).16

As in Oxford Health Plans, “we have already all but answered

th[e] question [of whether the arbitrators were even arguably

interpreting the procedural record] by summarizing” their

reasoning (569 US at 570) in finding, in the final award, that

the breach of contract counterclaim had been waived, insofar as

it sought a monetary recovery independent of the remedy of

rescission, at the time of closing oral arguments, if not before. 

That reasoning, as noted, was based primarily on an analysis of

NutraSweet’s oral closing argument and NS 230, the damages

16That the eight-year-long arbitration in this complex
international business dispute was itself unavoidably “cumbersome
and time-consuming” does not modify the FAA’s mandate to steer
clear of full-blown judicial review of the arbitrators’ legal,
factual and procedural findings.  However protracted the
arbitration proceedings were, following them up with judicial
review would only further delay the matter’s final resolution.
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exhibit NutraSweet submitted before closing arguments.  It is

possible that, as NutraSweet contends, the arbitrators

misunderstood the portions of NutraSweet’s closing oral argument

quoted in the final award.17  It is also possible that the

arbitrators misread NS 230, which sets forth damages calculations

to accompany contractual rescission (first counterclaim) and

equitable rescission (second and third counterclaims),

respectively, but does not indicate which calculation applies to

the fourth counterclaim, for breach of contract, or whether the

latter counterclaim is being pursued independently of the

rescission claims at all.  However, whether or not the

arbitrators’ finding of waiver was based on a misconstruction of

NutraSweet’s oral arguments and written submissions is a question

“not properly addressed to a court. . . .  All we say
is that convincing a court of an . . . error [by the
arbitrators] — even [their] grave error — is not
enough.  So long as the arbitrator[s] [were] arguably

17Such a misunderstanding conceivably might have arisen from
NutraSweet’s choice, for purposes of saving time, to address
simultaneously its damages arguments under the third and fourth
counterclaims, and in so doing, to refer repeatedly to its claims
for “rescissionary” damages.  In this regard, the arbitrators
highlighted in the final award NutraSweet’s statement in its
closing argument that it sought, without qualification,
“[r]escission including money.  Not rescission plus money.”  We
note that NutraSweet does not identify any point during the
arbitration at which it expressly clarified to the tribunal,
either orally or in writing, that, in the event all of its claims
for rescission were rejected, it sought monetary damages for
breach of contract as an alternative, stand-alone remedy.
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construing the [procedural record] — which this
[tribunal] was — a court may not correct [their]
mistakes under § 10(a)(4).  The potential for those
mistakes is the price of agreeing to arbitration. . . .
The arbitrator[s’] construction holds, however good,
bad, or ugly” (id. at 572-573 [internal quotation marks
and citations omitted]).

Stated otherwise, because the arbitrators gave at least “a barely

colorable justification for the outcome reached” (Wien & Malkin,

6 NY3d at 479 [internal quotation marks omitted]), their finding

of waiver must stand.18

Finally, NutraSweet argues, in the alternative, that the

order appealed from should be affirmed on the independent ground

— not reached by Supreme Court — that the enforcement of the

partial and final awards would be contrary to the public policy

of the United States.  While the Convention permits a court of a

signatory country to deny an arbitral award enforcement if such

enforcement “would be contrary to the public policy of that

country” (Convention, art V, § 2[b]), we see no conflict between

18To the extent NutraSweet argues that the final award is
internally inconsistent in dismissing the fraud-based claims for
rescission as duplicative of claims for breach of contract, while
at the same time finding that any freestanding claim to recover
damages for breach of contract had been waived, such an argument
is unavailing.  “[I]nternal inconsistencies within an arbitral
judgment are not grounds for vacatur” (Westerbeke, 304 F3d at
211).  This is so even if the court finds that the claim of
internal inconsistency is “plausible” (Saint Mary Home, Inc. v
Service Empls. Intl. Union, Dist. 1199, 116 F3d 41, 45 [2d Cir
1997]).
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enforcement of the partial and final awards and national public

policy.  NutraSweet does not contend that the contracts enforced

against it by the awards — the APA and the Processing Agreement —

were themselves unlawful.  Rather, NutraSweet argues it was

fraudulently induced by Daesang’s allegedly false compliance-

with-law warranty (concerning its prior conduct) to enter into

those agreements and, therefore, enforcing the award of damages

to Daesang for NutraSweet’s breach of the agreements would (in

NutraSweet’s view) permit a wrongdoer to profit from its own

wrongdoing.  However, the arbitral tribunal made no finding that

NutraSweet was, in fact, fraudulently induced to enter into the

transactions with Daesang.19  Thus, there is nothing on the face

of the partial and final awards to indicate that they violate

public policy and, hence, no basis to deny those awards

enforcement on public policy grounds (see Matter of Metrobuild

Assoc., Inc. v Nahoum, 51 AD3d 555, 557 [1st Dept 2008], lv

denied 11 NY3d 704 [2008]).  We have no hesitation in reaching

this conclusion, given that — “in light of the overriding purpose

of the Convention . . . to unify the standards by which

19As previously noted, assuming the truth of the Park
affidavit on which NutraSweet bases its claim that the
compliance-with-law warranty was false, there is substantial
reason to doubt that NutraSweet actually placed any reliance on
that warranty.

37



agreements to arbitrate are observed and arbitral awards are

enforced in the signatory countries” (Waterside Ocean Nav. Co. v

International Nav. Ltd., 737 F2d 150, 152 [2d Cir 1984] [internal

quotation marks omitted], quoting Scherk, 417 US at 520 n 15) —

the Convention’s public policy defense to enforcement of an award

“should be construed narrowly” and “should apply only where

enforcement would violate our most basic notions of morality and

justice” (Waterside, 737 F2d at 152 [internal quotation marks

omitted]).

Accordingly, the order of the Supreme Court, New York County

(Charles E. Ramos, J.), entered May 15, 2017, which, to the

extent appealed from as limited by the briefs, held in abeyance

the petition to confirm a final arbitration award, dated June 14,

2016, rendered in favor of petitioner by a tribunal of the

International Chamber of Commerce, and granted respondents’ cross

motion to vacate the aforementioned final award and the preceding

final partial award, dated December 21, 2012, rendered by the

same tribunal, to the extent of vacating the awards’ dismissal of 
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respondents’ second, third and fourth defenses and counterclaims

and remanding those defenses and counterclaims to the tribunal

for redetermination, should be reversed, on the law, with costs,

the petition granted, and the cross motion denied.  The Clerk is

directed to enter judgment accordingly.

All concur.

Order, Supreme Court, New York County (Charles E. Ramos,
J.), entered May 15, 2017, reversed, on the law, with costs, the
petition granted, and the cross motion denied.  The Clerk is
directed to enter judgment accordingly.

Opinion by Friedman, J.P.  All concur. 

Friedman, J.P., Andrias, Singh, Moulton, JJ.

THIS CONSTITUTES THE DECISION AND ORDER
OF THE SUPREME COURT, APPELLATE DIVISION, FIRST DEPARTMENT.

ENTERED:  SEPTEMBER 27, 2018

_______________________
CLERK
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